

Review

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Science of the Total Environment



The superior effect of nature based solutions in land management for enhancing ecosystem services



Saskia Keesstra ^{a,b,*}, Joao Nunes ^{a,c}, Agata Novara ^d, David Finger ^e, David Avelar ^f, Zahra Kalantari ^g, Artemi Cerdà ^h

^a Soil Physics and Land Management Group, Wageningen University, Droevendaalsesteeg 4, 6708PB Wageningen, The Netherlands

^b Civil, Surveying and Environmental Engineering, The University of Newcastle, Callaghan 2308, Australia

^c CE3C – Centre for Ecology, Evolution and Environmental Changes, Faculdade de Ciências, Universidade de Lisboa, 1749-016 Lisboa, Portugal

^d Dipartimento dei Sistemi Agro-ambientali, University of Palermo, viale delle scienze, Italy

^e School of Science and Engineering. Reykjavik University, Iceland

^f CE3C – Centre for Ecology, Evolution and Environmental Changes, Faculdade de Ciências, Universidade de Lisboa, 1749-016 Lisboa, Portugal

- g Stockholm University, Department of Physical Geography and Bolin Centre for Climate Research, SE-106 91 Stockholm, Sweden
- ^h Soil Erosion and Degradation Research Group, Department of Geography, University of Valencia, Valencia, Spain

HIGHLIGHTS

GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT

- Nature based solutions (NBSs) should become mainstream land management strategies.
- NBSs are divided in soil-vegetation and landscape solutions.
- Soil-vegetation solutions are based on the concept of soil health.
- Landscape solutions are based on the concept of connectivity.
- NBSs can provide solutions for restoring ecosystem services.

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 3 July 2017 Received in revised form 8 August 2017 Accepted 9 August 2017 Available online 20 August 2017

Editor: D. Barcelo

Keywords: Nature based solutions SDGs Ecosystem services System dynamics

ABSTRACT

The rehabilitation and restoration of land is a key strategy to recover services -goods and resources- ecosystems offer to the humankind. This paper reviews key examples to understand the superior effect of nature based solutions to enhance the sustainability of catchment systems by promoting desirable soil and landscape functions. The use of concepts such as connectivity and the theory of system thinking framework allowed to review coastal and river management as a guide to evaluate other strategies to achieve sustainability. In land management NBSs are not mainstream management. Through a set of case studies: organic farming in Spain; rewilding in Slovenia; land restoration in Iceland, sediment trapping in Ethiopia and wetland construction in Sweden, we show the potential of Nature based solutions (NBSs) as a cost-effective long term solution for hydrological risks and land degradation. NBSs can be divided into two main groups of strategies: soil solutions and landscape solutions. Soil solutions aim to enhance the soil health and soil functions through which local eco-system services will be maintained or restored. Landscape solutions mainly focus on the concept of connectivity. Making the landscape less connected, facilitating less rainfall to be transformed into runoff and therefore reducing flood risk, increasing

E-mail addresses: saskia.keesstra@wur.nl (S. Keesstra), jpcnunes@fc.ul.pt (J. Nunes), agatanovara@unipa.it (A. Novara), davidf@ru.is (D. Finger), dnavelar@fc.ul.pt (D. Avelar), Zahra.kalantari@natgeo.su.se (Z. Kalantari), artemio.cerda@uv.es (A. Cerdà).



^{*} Corresponding author at: Soil Physics and Land Management Group, Wageningen University, Droevendaalsesteeg 4, 6708PB Wageningen, The Netherlands.

soil moisture and reducing droughts and soil erosion we can achieve the sustainability. The enhanced eco-system services directly feed into the realization of the Sustainable Development Goals of the United Nations. © 2017 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction					
	1.1. Nature-based solutions for a sustainable world					
2.	Why is systems approach a good research framework? 99					
3.	Lessons from coastal and river research					
4.	Case studies					
	4.1. Organic farming changes the fate of agriculture land in Mediterranean orchards					
	4.2. Rewilding in Slovenia					
	4.3. Land restoration in Iceland. Water resources and flood prevention					
	4.4. Agroforestry in southern Portugal: modern nature-based solutions improve a traditional and sustainable land-use for semi-arid regions 100					
	4.5. Vegetative sediment trapping measures in Ethiopia grassed waterways					
	4.6. Blue-green infrastructure in Sweden					
5.	Discussion					
	5.1. Classification of nature based solutions					
	5.1.1. Soil-vegetation solutions					
	5.1.2. Landscape solutions					
	5.2. Nature based solution in specific systems					
	5.2.1. NBSs in agricultural systems					
	5.2.2. Grass and forest systems					
	5.2.3. Riverine systems					
	5.3. Benefits for ecosystem services. Holistic management is useful					
	5.4. Way ahead for managers and policy makers: do NBSs form the solution for sustainability?					
6.	Conclusions					
Acknowledgment						
References						

1. Introduction

1.1. Nature-based solutions for a sustainable world

The Earth System has been affected by human abuse of resources, mismanagement of planning and land uses, and impacted by climate change induced alterations to the natural Earth System Cycles such as the water, carbon or nitrogen cycles, which is resulting in land degradation and Desertification (Vu et al., 2014; Tarrasón et al., 2016). Therefore, the UN has defined the Sustainable Development Goals (Griggs et al., 2013). Many of the 15 goals defined, have a strong link to land and water management (Keesstra et al., 2016a) and call for a sustainable use of resources, ecosystem restoration, biodiversity, carbon sequestration and sustainable catchment management. For these challenges a common solution can be found in rehabilitating ecosystems. For this, new holistic approaches are needed which are more time and cost effective and can tackle multiple problems efficiently (Favretto et al., 2016; Turner et al., 2016). However, each climate zone, each ecosystem, each bioma, each region calls for a tailor-made solution.

The rehabilitation and restoration of land-based ecosystems is a key strategy to recover services (goods and resources) ecosystems offer to the humankind (Galati et al., 2016). However, most restoration and rehabilitation projects are focused on artificial, man-made and high-maintenance strategies, which are costly and usually, not successful over a longer period of time, as they depend on external inputs of energy and money, in addition to human management and control (Miao et al., 2000; Ramos et al., 2007). Restoration and rehabilitation strategies that are based on natural processes and cycles are sustainable as they use natural flows of matter and energy, take advantage of local solutions and follow the seasonal and temporal changes of the ecosystems (Meli

et al., 2014). Therefore, nature based solutions (NBSs) to restore and rehabilitate degraded ecosystem can be a sustainable and successful strategy (Temmerman et al., 2013; Laughlin, 2014; Nel et al., 2014).

For the successful implementation of NBSs a deep understanding of nature's functioning and processes is needed. By working together with the forces of nature well designed measures need less maintenance, are more cost effective, and if constructed in a good way, may even be more effective over a long time span because nature's forces increase the efficiency of the structure (e.g. build up of terrace like structures upslope from lines of vegetation, naturally meandering rivers, wetlands, resprouting species in wild fire effected areas) and the contribution to the sustainable economy and society of the region (Kabisch et al., 2016; Villegas-Palacio et al., 2016; Schaubroeck, 2017).

In this paper we aim to show the superior effect of nature based solutions to enhance the sustainability of catchment systems by promoting desirable soil and landscape functions. We first explain the concepts behind NBSs, the cascade of processes that occur when we work together with nature to manage land and water. We review how these processes interact with the functions of the soil, the flow of water, sediment and nutrients and the ecosystems that are part of the landscape. This will be illustrated by showing several case studies in which NBSs have proved their usefulness in real life examples from both the Mediterranean and northern European climatic zones. Each example will show the risk and which solution was applied to achieve success and will evaluate the management strategies from several sides: (i) the impact it has on the ecosystem; (ii) which physical processes are the foundation of the measure; and (iii) how the measure contributes to enhancing ecosystem services. Finally, we also aim to show policymakers and stakeholders the contribution of the scientific community to achieve sustainability through NBS.

2. Why is systems approach a good research framework?

The theory of system thinking forms the basis of the approaches that are the basis for the NBSs. System thinking has been defined as thinking in wholes rather than thinking only in the properties of individual elements and how they interact; understanding emergent behaviour of a system - as opposed to the reductionist approach (Forrester, 1994; Flood, 2010). Most natural systems behave in a system equilibrium way. This means the system has internal negative feedback loops that dominate the behaviour of the system and brings it back to the equilibrium state (Chorley and Kennedy, 1971; Hack, 1975; Ahnert, 1994; Heimsath et al., 1997). A second important background to understand a system is that natural systems are adapted to their environment. This environment consists of natural forces, such as climate, parent material, but also management.

To design effective NBSs and similar concepts in a proper way concepts like system thinking, and parallel ones such as connectivity, are useful tools to understand an predict how a system will behave in reaction to the implantation of a certain strategy. It may be useful to link the benefits of the strategies to ecosystem services as in done in ecology, where this more holistic way to approach research is mainstream, while in land management it is not (Machovina and Feeley, 2017; Steger et al., 2018).

The key in working with nature-based solutions is the dynamics of the system. The success lies in a deep understanding of the processes and feedbacks that determine the sediment and water fluxes in a landscape and how these fluxes interact with the existing landscape. The solutions available roughly fall apart in two main categories, the first category are solutions that are based on changes in the soil, enhancing the soil functions and with that the resilience the ecosystem has to external driver. These solutions have their fundamentals in the concept of soil health (Weil and Brady, 2016). The second category comprises of solutions that are based on changing the fluxes (water, sediment, nutrients, pollutants) in the landscape and is based in the concept of connectivity (Parsons et al., 2015).

3. Lessons from coastal and river research

The success of the role of nature-base solutions can have, is clearly shown in coastal research, where the concept of building with nature is fully accepted. In coastal defense projects using old style engineered structures have proven to be expensive and require continuous maintenance. Building with nature projects like the Zandmotor at the Dutch coast (van den Hoek et al., 2012; Stive et al., 2013) where a large volume of sand has been put just offshore in the sea close to De Hague to use the natural current along the coastline to transport and deposit sediment on the beaches and dunes to enforce the coastal defense. This project showed that the understanding of the system dynamics the forces of nature can be used, to defend the Dutch coast from erosion. The coastal managers have seen their efforts go to waste in one storm; urging them to rethink the strategies they were using, and finally adopt building with nature based strategies. They are low-cost in construction and maintenance.

Also managers of large rivers have adopted the building with nature concept. A good example of this, are the projects that were implemented after two large subsequent flooding events in Rhine-Meuse delta in the Netherlands. A project called 'Room for the River' (Wiering and Arts, 2006; Rijke et al., 2012) respects the water and sediment dynamics in the river, to allow the river to use a larger part of its former floodplain to mitigate flood risk. In the same time these projects have been used to make new green spaces in the floodplain areas which were formerly used for agriculture.

Then, coastal and river management are well advanced to use NBSs. However, in land management in agricultural and forest systems NBSs are not widely accepted, while similar success stories can be expected as in coastal and riverine systems (Nesshöver et al., 2017; Xing et al., 2017).

4. Case studies

With an array of case studies we want to show a few examples of opportunities for the NBSs implementation in different environmental conditions to show the superior use of the NBSs for land management and restoration. The case studies show how multiple ecosystem services can be enhanced by the NBS and mitigate hydrological risks and land degradation.

4.1. Organic farming changes the fate of agriculture land in Mediterranean orchards

Mediterranean type ecosystems are heavily affected by intense soil erosion processes due to high rainfall intensities, recurrent droughts, erodible parent materials and a long history of abuse of soil, water, and vegetation resources. In agriculture soils, erosion rates are extremely high due to the lack of vegetation cover, intense tillage, widespread use of herbicides and the soil compaction due to the heavy machinery used (López-Vicente et al., 2015; Taguas et al., 2015). Especially in new chemically treated citrus plantation and vineyards soil erosion rates are extremely high due to the sloping terrain, soil compaction and crust development as a consequence of the lack of vegetation (Rodrigo Comino et al., 2016c; Cerdà et al., 2017). The use of herbicides favours a landscape where the cover of vegetation is reduced to the crop, and the soil erodibility is high. To reduce soil and water losses in agriculture soils different strategies were used: mulches, geotextiles, cover crops, catch crops, chipped branches, no-tillage or terraces (Keesstra et al., 2016b; Prosdocimi et al., 2016a; Mandal et al., 2017).

However, all these solutions are not solving the problem as they do not achieve a global strategy to reduce the soil losses and improve the soil quality, and they use to be applied individually. Organic farming integrates some of the mentioned solutions to reduce soil erosion with the strategies to increase biodiversity, protect traditional cultivars and breeds and achieve sustainability from a biophysical and socioeconomic point of view. The most applied strategies to reduce soil and water losses are the use of weeds, but also chipped branches, catch crops and mulches are applied, which can reduce the soil losses and improve soil functions like water holding capacity and infiltration capacity. These soil functions, in turn change the ecosystem services such as water retention and biodiversity increase. In addition, the landscape is more attractive for tourism and adds to the cultural heritage of these areas.

Organic farming, moreover, has shown a positive effect on ecosystem service via carbon sequestration (Fig. 1). The application of best management practices (cover crop, amendments, minimum tillage and mulches), which are the key elements of organic farming system, can contribute to reduce climate change due to the sequestration of CO_2 (Novara et al., 2016; Pereira et al., 2017). The soil organic carbon stock increase with organic farming application is related to the increase of carbon input into the soil through plant residues or cover crops, reduction of soil organic matter oxidation through minimum tillage, the use of organic fertilizers, stabilization of organic matter, soil structure improvement and reduction of soil carbon losses with eroded sediment (Fig. 1).

In a recent study in Mediterranean vineyards the application of best management practice using cover crops after 5 years raised of 14% the total soil organic carbon content in comparison to traditional soil management (García-Díaz et al., 2016; Kirchhoff et al., 2017). Such SOC increase was equivalent to 11.9 Mg CO₂ ha⁻¹ sequestered in five years, which has an important impact on CO₂ mitigation if a catchment vineyard area is considered. Organic farming also controls the losses of organic carbon by reducing eroding organic rich soils and avoiding the decomposition of organic matter during sediment transport (Novara



Fig. 1. Soil Organic Carbon (SOC) after the management during 22 years of AEM measure in citrus orchards in Eastern Spain. The soil surface layer is enriched with organic carbon.

et al., 2016). In this way organic farming can also contribute to initiatives like the "4 per mille" that are associated to the SDGs. This initiative is mend to counteract carbon emissions by promoting carbon sequestration in soils. This initiatives strives to increase the soil organic matter every year with 0.4% (4 pour 1000 initiative) which should be enough to achieve this goal (Muñoz-Rojas et al., 2015; Rhodes, 2016).

4.2. Rewilding in Slovenia

In many parts of the Mediterranean large scale land abandonment has taken place due to socio-economic changes causing small scale farmers to find their livelihood in different economic sectors such as industry and tourism (Petanidou et al., 2008). In the 1950 due to the political influence the Slovenian agricultural hinterland was left to reforest naturally. A 70 km² catchment in the west of Slovenia rewilded for about 70% of the catchment over a period of 30 to 50 years, which caused the catchment system to behave in a different way from a sediment and water connectivity point of view and has changed the soil properties and functions. The area is located in a humid Mediterranean climate which means around 800 mm of rain is received predominantly in autumn, winter and spring, with a dry summer, with occasional summer storms.

Rewilding has shown to have both soil as well as landscape benefits. A recent study in the area (van Hall et al., 2017) found that soil organic matter content, total nitrogen, bulk density and aggregate stability all improved in terms of the functions a soil can have. This clearly shows the benefits this nature based solution has on soil quality, which has a positive effect on soil biodiversity (Korthals et al., 2001), carbon sequestration (Knops and Tilman, 2000) and water holding capacity (Li and Shao, 2006). An important finding of this study was the fact that the benefits of rewilding were found to take effect in the first years after the land abandonment (5–10 y), in the time that the soil is covered with herbs and grasses and the forest is yet to be developed. The positive recovery of the vegetation after abandonment has been widely demonstrated, although sometimes there are contrasted responses (Romero-Díaz et al., 2017).

The landscape effect of this nature based solution was demonstrated by the studies of Keesstra et al. (2005, 2009). Flood risks have been reduced; erosion reduced by 90%, and runoff discharge as well (Fig. 2). But the forest cover seems to have had also a negative effect in the area. In the original agricultural system intensive storms caused flood events with high sediment loads, however, there was a certain baseflow in summer. In the reforested landscape the flood risks have been reduced, but, the river nowadays runs dry in summer due to the higher water demands of the forest cover. The famous sponge effect does not apply in these Mediterranean ecosystems due to the high evapotranspiration of the trees during the dry summers as was also found in the Pyrenees by García-Ruiz et al. (2005). Although the dry river beds in summer may be the natural state of the riverine system, the ecosystem services in the area may decline under this extensive rewilding. Therefore, a managed rewilding may be a better solution to come to a sustainable situation from multiple points of view, to come to a desirable state of the catchment system from a management point of view. When not the whole catchment area would be forested, but areas with low erosion risk are transformed in extensively managed grass land, this would have multiple benefits: (i) better water resource management over the year, no floods and still sufficient base flow; (ii) higher biodiversity, especially endangered bird species in grass land areas; (iii) eco-tourism, summer activities in the area are more attractive in a riverine system that has running water in summer; (iv) agro-tourism, extensively or organically run farms can attract day tourists to their properties.



Fig. 2. Effects of successive rewilding (RW) in Slovenia from 1960 to 2002; with stable precipitation, the annual discharge and runoff coefficient reduce.

4.3. Land restoration in Iceland. Water resources and flood prevention

Iceland is an ideal location to investigate anthropogenic impacts on the resilience of natural ecosystems and its services. The dramatic deforestation after the arrival of the first settlers 1100 years ago, the subsequent year round livestock grazing along with devastating ash emissions during volcanic eruptions and a harsh sub-polar oceanic climate have led to severe degradation of large areas of Icelandic soils (Aradóttir et al., 2013; Arnalds, 2005). Overgrazing has been seeing as a worldwide land degradation threat (Pulido et al., 2017). Since the beginning of the 20th century diverse restoration measures have been implemented at a large-scale on the lowland areas of Iceland making them an ideal case study to investigate the effects of restoration on the resilience of water resources. Since over 100 years the Soil Conservation Service of Iceland (SCSI) has been restoring and investigating degraded landscapes, collecting valuable information and data on restoration research in Iceland, and specifically of the Rangárvellir area in southern Iceland, which is stored in a metadatabase (Finger et al., 2016). The combined effect of all restoration efforts have had a subsequent effect on the runoff dynamics in the main rivers of Rangárvellir (Fig. 3a). One can distinguish between three phases of restoration: i) present conditions (Fig. 3b); ii) degraded conditions as was the case 100 years ago (Fig. 3c); iii) fully restored ecosystems (Fig. 5d). The effects of restoration of runoff dynamics indicate that: i) high discharge peaks decreased due to successful restoration; ii) ground water levels are depleting with low rates during dry periods and erosion rates in the rivers is reduced due to the lower soil erodibility. These first results suggest that restoration of original ecosystems present an effective method to reduce flood risks, enhance the resilience of fresh water resources and improve water quality due to soil erosion reduction.

4.4. Agroforestry in southern Portugal: modern nature-based solutions improve a traditional and sustainable land-use for semi-arid regions

A large area of the southwestern Iberian peninsula is occupied by a savannah-like traditional agroforesty system called montado in Portugal and dehesa in Spain. These systems are open oak formations (usually Mediterranean evergreen oaks) with a scattered tree cover, usually associated with rainfed pastures with extensive grazing of sheep, pigs and other livestock. This landscape is a human naturebased solution for the inter-annual fluctuations of water availability and vegetation productivity typical of semi-arid Mediterranean climates, designed to prevent degradation and minimizing work input.

Pinto-Correia (1993) provided one of the earliest descriptions of the functioning of the system. More recent research has highlighted how this system takes advantage of local climate and soil conditions. The canopy cover of ca. 40% seems to be optimal, since lower tree cover is associated with lower soil water retention and less infiltration, but a denser cover leads to water competition between trees (Gouveia and Freitas, 2008). Similarly, montado systems have a higher density and richness of ectomycorrhizal (ECM) fungal communities than regions with denser tree and shrub cover, due to lower competition; this can increase the resilience of the managed system due to improved nutrient acquisition, drought tolerance and pathogen resistance (Azul et al., 2010). The montado landscape has also been shown to have other effects such as lowering land surface temperature (Godinho et al., 2016) or affecting soil microbiology (Shvaleva et al., 2015) and soil fauna (Martins da Silva et al., 2015).

This system, however, has been under threat by recent developments caused by changes in climate and land use. An increase of droughts and wildfires has led to a general decrease in tree cover by increasing tree mortality and limiting regeneration (Acácio et al., 2009). Also, while land abandonment on some areas led to intensification and an increase in competition for water between trees and shrubs, the intensification of pasture on others led to an increase in soil degradation, with a consequential loss of productivity and tree health (Pinto-Correia and Mascarenhas, 1999; Pinto-Correia et al., 2016). Relatively moderate changes could therefore threaten the equilibrium which has kept this landscape sustainable, with consequences not only for land degradation and human desertification, but also for water resources in this region, already threatened by climate change (Nunes et al., 2017b).

To adapt to these changes, recent initiatives have tried to maintain and improve the sustainability of this landscape with non-traditional nature based solutions. Ng et al. (2016) note the adoption of practices such conservation tillage, mulching, adapting cropping to microclimate (e.g. more intensity in the north side of hills), used elsewhere. Locally developed solutions include: i) sowing biodiverse permanent pastures



Fig. 3. Overview of the two watershed of Ytri- and Eystri Rangár in Rangárvellir in southern Iceland (a). Picture of Gunnarsholt, the headquarters of the SCSI in 1944 (b) and 2012 (c) (photo from land.is). Picture (d) Visualizes natural succession of birch trees in a protected area around the source of Hróarslækur. (photo taken in 2014 by Finger)

rich in legumes (Teixeira et al., 2011). These consist of a mix of different seed varieties in pasture, which ensure that species are suited for different soil conditions in a pasture, and provide cover in different parts of the year. This has been shown to also increase soil organic matter through enhanced productivity. The second solution is, ii) water retention landscapes (Pijnappels and Dietl, 2012; Fig. 4). These consist of a series of artificial lakes designed for water retention and to promote percolation, increasing soil and groundwater availability at the expense of surface runoff, complemented by measures such as swales and keylines (Yeomans, 1954). There is an ongoing debate about the most effective mix between lakes and other measures.

Increasingly these solutions are adopted in a holistic approach to landscape management, including adapting montado tree cover, using shrubs for erosion control in steep slopes, rainwater harvesting, restoration of riparian vegetation and other measures; Campos et al. (2016) describes an example of how vegetation management can increase the resilience towards land abandonment and climate change impact. These solutions are implemented and supported by a network of sustainable communities which also promote the systematization and dissemination of these nature-based solutions through bottom-up approaches (Campos et al., 2016; Esteves, 2017).

4.5. Vegetative sediment trapping measures in Ethiopia grassed waterways

For millennia African farmers have been using NBSs, without calling them as such. They have been using measures such as grass strips, stone bunds and agroforestry to sustainably make use of the soil and landscape resources (Gebremichael et al., 2005; Vancampenhout et al., 2006). In recent years when land degradation has become a widespread problem in the countries like Ethiopia, the pressure of population growth and extensive livestock grazing has caused overgrazing and subsidence agriculture on unsuitable areas. Due to the widespread soil erosion taking place there have been many projects focusing on on-site soil and water conservation techniques (Gebremedhin and Swinton, 2003; Amare et al., 2014; Lemann et al., 2016).

These techniques can partially be classified as NBSs. Techniques such as grass strips and soil or stone bunds that catch water and sediment from upstream enhance the initially created structure to slowly form a terrace like structure as a result of the forces of nature (Fig. 5; Atnae et al., 2015; Mekonnen et al., 2015). However, the large amounts of sediment accumulating in reservoirs and lakes downstream show that trying to conserve the soil on the fields is an insufficient way to reduce the fluxes of sediment on a landscape scale. It is necessary to trap the sediment in its transport path. Also for this there are NBSs, that do this, grassed waterways, and finally in wetlands where the water can be filtered and retarded before entering a larger water body (Mekonnen et al., 2015). The most efficient species of grass to trap the sediment and the amount of grazing possible are important things to take into account (Mekonnen et al., 2016). However, all these measures are individually not sufficient to come to sustainable landscape management; but a cascade of these NBSs has the potential to solve the degradation problems. A combination of soil solutions such as intercropping and mulching on the agricultural fields (Prosdocimi et al., 2016b; Tanveer et al., 2017) and landscape solutions in the pathways as well as in the form of wetlands close to the outlet of a catchment may solve these issues.

4.6. Blue-green infrastructure in Sweden

Blue-green infrastructure is currently seen as a way to reduce the negative effects of urbanisation (flooding) and to adapt to anticipated climate change (flooding and droughts). Blue-green infrastructure is a possible way to create multifunctional surfaces with environmental and social functions. Apart from stormwater management (sustainable urban drainage systems), it includes greenways and ecological networks, which are important components in the concept of green infrastructure (Demuzere et al., 2014). The overall aim with blue-green infrastructure is to mimic valuable functions supplied by nature, such as purification of water, flood control, water storage and heat control. The Augustenborg area in southern Sweden is one example, where a several of the concepts related to nature-based solutions for stormwater control were installed 15 years ago. The main objectives were to adapt to more extreme rainfall events, achieve sustainable urban development, involve residents in development of their neighbourhood and increase biodiversity in the area by making the environment greener (Sörensen and Emilsson, 2017; Stahre, 2008). The blue-green infrastructure system in Augustenborg includes trenches, ditches, ponds and wetlands for retention of flows from roofs, roads and car parks, and also green roofs built after 1998 and retrofitted on 10,000 m² of an existing building (the largest green roof in Scandinavia) (Sörensen and Emilsson, 2017; Fig. 6).

The systems have been continuously monitored and investigated over the 15 years since installation and many articles and reports have been written about different aspects of the Augustenborg redevelopment project, e.g. citizen involvement (Marsalek et al., 2004), environmental assessment (Ludzia et al., 2014), green roof water quality (Berndtsson, 2010) and quantity (Bengtsson et al., 2004) and design and maintenance (Kalantari and Folkeson, 2013). As a result of the



Fig. 4. Water retention strategies in Portugal, retention lines and keylines.



Fig. 5. Soil and Landscape nature based solution in Ethiopia, stone and soil bunds (red arrows indicate sequence of soil bunds) collect water and sediment to form after some years a micro-terrace. The combined effect of a whole hillslope with soil bunds magnifies the effect.

implementation of the blue-green initiative, there have been no floods in the area (2009–2014), compared with five floods between 1994 and 1999 (Sörensen and Emilsson, 2017). Moreover, Shukri (2010) found a 50% decrease in runoff in the Augustenborg area following heavy rainfall in summer 2007 that led to severe flooding in most parts of Malmö city (Bengtsson and Milotti, 2010). In addition to flood risk reduction during minor and severe flood events (Villarreal et al., 2004; Sörensen and Emilsson, 2017), there are reports of positive effects of the blue-green infrastructure system in Augustenborg on socioeconomic improvement and environmental impacts (e.g. Ludzia et al., 2014), as well as increased biodiversity (50%) by providing a better environment for local plants and wildlife (Manso and Castro-Gomes, 2015).

5. Discussion

We critically assess what the case studies show in terms of what we think is the superior effect of NBSs to mitigate issues such as flood risk, fire risk, droughts and pollution. In this assessment we take into account the role of parameters that influence the designs on different scales (Table 1) and how the integrated designs influence ecosystem services (Table 2).

5.1. Classification of nature based solutions

Table 3 gives an overview of different types of NBSs that have been implemented to areas with various land-use systems, roughly divided into agricultural areas, managed grassland and forests and riverine areas. In all these systems soil as well as landscape NBSs can be found. The assessment of the usefulness and choice of NBSs benefits from classifying them into Soil-Vegetation and Landscape solutions.

5.1.1. Soil-vegetation solutions

Soil-Vegetation solutions can be characterized by measures that enhance soil functions and soil resilience and are based on the concept of soil health (Abbott and Manning, 2015). Parameters and associated processes (Tables 1 and 3) can be grouped in soil and surface changing measures. Better infiltration, soil stability and soil roughness reduce overland flow and associated sediment transport (Rodrigo-Comino et al., 2016a, 2016b). Apart from the soil related parameters also surface parameters influence the potential for rainfall to be transformed into runoff. Vegetation cover, mulch, surface roughness and crusts also impact the runoff and erodibility of the surface, impacting the water and sediment fluxes on the small scale. And finally, soil parameters related to soil structure (porosity, aggregate stability, organic matter content, water holding capacity) all create a more resilient soil ecosystem (Asmamaw, 2017; Hueso-González et al., 2014; Muñoz-Rojas et al., 2016). More resilient systems have a buffer against external impacts and create a better livelihood conditions for above and below life. In addition, a healthy soil will have a higher biodiversity, and can store more carbon (Blouin et al., 2013).

5.1.2. Landscape solutions

The second group of NBSs can be defined as landscape solutions. Geomorphological parameters such as hillslope morphology, runoff pathways, topographic wetness and water and sediment sinks determine the potential for water and sediment to be transported through a system. Holistically, the soil and landscape processes together form the connectivity of the landscape. The concept of connectivity (Bracken et al., 2015; Parsons et al., 2015; Masselink et al., 2017a) is



Fig. 6. Location map of Augustenborg Eco-City in Malmö in southern Sweden (55.50N, 13.00W; OpenStreetMap, 2017) and the Blue-green infrastructure in suburb of Augustenborg in the south part of Malmö, which was redeveloped in the framework of the blue green infrastructure implementation. Photos of suburb by Johanna Sörensen.

Table 1

Scale dependent parameters that can be influenced by nature based solutions.

Scale	Parameter
Soil processes	Porosity Soil structure Aggregate stability Soil organic matter Water repellency
Surface processes	Water holding capacity Vegetation cover Mulch cover Surface roughness Shear strength Surface crusts Comburghese for load
Geomorphological processes	Hillslope geomorphology Runoff pathways Topographic wetness Water and sediment sinks Connectivity
Chemical processes	CEC Nutrient content Carbon content Solute transport and precipitation

the most useful approach to describe these water and sediment dynamics and assess how the system will react when the drivers in the system will change. Process understanding will make it possible to predict how the system will react to changes in the drivers in terms of water and sediment connectivity. And with this knowledge the system can be managed in such a way that it will evolve into the desired system state that land and water managers wish to have.

The design of these landscape solutions should be based in the cascade of processes that occur when we work together with nature to manage land and water. The measures can be linked to all parameters and processes that are of influence the structural and functional connectivity of the system. Using the insights of the role of these different processes and parameters can be used to design solutions that can reduce the connectivity of a system on different spatial levels in the system, from the plot to the whole catchment. As an example: mulching promotes disconnectivity on the plot scale infiltration can be promoted, reducing the runoff and increasing water availability for agriculture. In the same catchment a wetland can reduce the connectivity in the riverine system (Masselink et al., 2017b). These kinds of management strategies can mitigate risks like flooding, agricultural droughts and extreme soil erosion events (Rickson, 2014; Panteli and Mancarella, 2015) and can enhance biodiversity (Huang et al., 2017).

5.2. Nature based solution in specific systems

5.2.1. NBSs in agricultural systems

In agriculture soil strategies that are focused on reaching a healthier soil aim to improve soil organic matter content and structure to facilitate higher infiltration rates and lower runoff and erosion. Systems like organic farming are mainly focused on that. Other strategies focus

Table 2

Ecosystem services relevant for nature based solutions.

Ecosystem services	
Soil protection	
Flood regulation	
Water quality regulation	
Carbon sequestration	
Fire prevention	
Biomass growth	
Biodiversity	
Ecosystem resilience	
Nutrient regulation	
	-

on protecting the soil surface, like mulching, intercropping and the use of cover crops (Sharma et al., 2017).

The landscape solution in agriculture are soil and water conservation measures that aim at dis-connecting the water and sediment fluxes when in transport. These strategies, like grassed waterways, vegetation strips, contour planting, and even the use of soil and stone bunds (Novara et al., 2013; Vancampenhout et al., 2006), all have the objective to slow down the surface runoff and enhance infiltration. These kind of structures have been used for many years, but the impact of the cascade of these strategies on catchment scale is usually unknown. These measures are designed for small scale, and how upscaling (for instance mass implementation of infiltration trenches on the hillslopes) (Paras-Alcántara et al., 2016) impacts the system downstream like the depletion of water and sediment downstream in the system is usually unknown. Modelling studies may prove to be useful to predict such catchment scale design sustainability. In a modelling study by Nunes et al. (2017a) different scenarios of land use management were tested for their successfulness to reduce water and sediment fluxes. This approach proved to be useful to assess the effectiveness of landscape measures that are based in natural processes.

5.2.2. Grass and forest systems

The NBSs in grasslands and forests are mainly focused on making the systems more biodiverse in order to make the soil and surface characteristics more favorable to buffer dry and wet conditions. The self-organization of the vegetation creates a resilient ecosystem, and continuously protects the soil surface from erosion (Rietkerk et al., 2002). The different layers and types of vegetation create a surface that intercepts more rainfall and prohibits overland flow more efficiently (Berendse et al., 2015; Osterkamp et al., 2012). When looking at spatial-temporal dimensions of soil functions, they can be improved by creating biodiverse managed landscapes, either in forest or grassland type of ecosystems. The natural self organization of the vegetation creates a more resilient ecosystem in terms of buffering the hydrological system to prevent droughts and floods (Shen et al., 2017). But also preventing the soil surface to be bare and vulnerable for erosion.

Rewilding of landscapes initially seems the same as natural biodiverse forest recovery. The benefits on 'soil scale' are the same, but in landscapes that are rewilded, the natural growth is only allowed on specific places. Areas which have a high erosion risk will be treated differently than areas that have a low erosion risk. This mosaic planning should be done to optimize the ecosystem services that can be found in such areas. In addition, the agricultural landscape ecosystem services benefit from natural parcel separations like hedges and tree rows.

In an agro-forestry system this self-organization is artificially mimicked. Undergrowth and canopy are managed in such a way that the surface is better protected because different layers of vegetation grow at different times in the seasons (Shen et al., 2017). In dry systems this also has the effect of optimizing water use and minimizing competition, with advantage for plants and for associated ecosystems (Gouveia and Freitas, 2008; Azul et al., 2010).

5.2.3. Riverine systems

River restoration projects all over the world nowadays use NBSs to restore the natural behaviour and ecosystem services of riverine systems (Surian et al., 2015). NBSs can be implemented in different parts of the riverine system, the river channel itself, the riparian zone and wetlands. In the channel allowing the river to behave naturally; meander, incise, flood its floodplains will create a biodiverse environment that retards high water flows and therefore mitigates flood risks, which is a common approach in river restoration. Riparian vegetation has a double function in terms of the benefits it can have. Not only does it enhance the riverine ecosystem itself, also it retards water and traps sediment coming from the hillslopes that need to pass the riparian zone before entering the channel. The final part of the riverine system are wetlands. The ecosystem services wetlands contribute to are flood

Table 3

Summary of the scale, the physical processes and the impacted ecosystem services that are relevant for nature based solutions that have been described in the case studies in this paper and in other papers.

Case	Process scale (soil/hillslope/landscape)	Physical parameters	Ecosystem services
1 Organic farming (Cerdà et al., 2016; Novara et al., 2016)	Soil/hillslope	Infiltration Interception Ponding Soil surface protection Ecosystem resilience	Soil protection Biodiversity Carbon sequestration Water quality regulation Biomass growth Nutrient regulation Flood regulation
2 Managed rewilding (Keesstra et al., 2009)	Soil/hillslope	Infiltration Interception Soil surface protection Ecosystem resilience Dis-connectivity	Soil protection Biodiversity Carbon sequestration Water quality regulation Flood regulation
3 Agro-forestry (Pinto-Correia, 1993)	Soil & landscape	Infiltration Soil water retention Soil surface protection Tree resilience	Soil protection Drought regulation Water quality regulation Carbon sequestration Biodiversity
5 Land restoration (Finger et al., 2016)	Soil/hillslope	Infiltration Interception Ecosystem resilience Dis-connectivity Water and sediment retention	Soil protection Biodiversity Carbon sequestration Water quality regulation Biomass growth Nutrient regulation Elood regulation
6 Wetlands restoration (Kalantari and Folkeson, 2013)	Landscape	Dis-connectivity Water and sediment retention	Biodiversity Water quality regulation Nutrient regulation Flood regulation
7 Trapping sediment with vegetational measures (Mekonnen et al., 2015)	Landscape	Dis-connectivity Infiltration Ponding Interception Water and sediment retention	Soil protection Carbon sequestration Water quality regulation Biomass growth Nutrient regulation Flood regulation

prevention, retarding and trapping sediment and filter pollutants from the discharged water (He et al., 2015). Because the wetlands are located in flat areas and divert the water into a large area, the discharge wave is flattened during a flood (Watson et al., 2016); and suspended sediment is trapped by the vegetation. Vegetation type and spatial distribution can be used to enhance the natural function of the system (Mekonnen et al., 2016).

5.3. Benefits for ecosystem services. Holistic management is useful

As shown in the previous sections NBSs can have multiple societal benefits: Biodiversity, Carbon sequestration, and Land Restoration, Food security and Water security. These can all be linked to the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). Keesstra et al. (2016a) clearly showed the link between the soil function, the ecosystem services and the SDGs.

Holistically, the soil and landscape processes together form a cascade of processes in the landscape; and if we work together with nature to manage land and water this will result in a more resilient system. In the end, NBSs can regulate four ecosystem services: water provision, flood regulation, soil protection, and water quality regulation (Fig. 7).

The first ecosystem service is water provision. It shows that while some NBS decrease the amount of water, most especially improve the timing of the provision, by promoting infiltration, storing water in the wet season and releasing it in the dry season (which is how the water retention landscapes prevent drought). Even though, in the Mediterranean area the infiltrated water will for a large part be evapotranspirated, and will never come to discharge. But this change in the hydrological distribution causes the water to be more available for plant growth, more water will infiltrate and therefore will not be transformed into surface flow, which causes erosion and flooding. The second service NBSs provide is flood regulation. Through the promotion of infiltration, soil water retention, vegetational obstructions in the drainage system and wetlands the system becomes less connected. All measures are designed to retard and divert the water to reduce the speed and the converging of water during a high intensity rainfall event. Soil solutions can be intercropping (Singh et al., 2016) or land-scape solutions such as wetland construction (Kalantari and Folkeson, 2013) are solutions useful to improve this ecosystem service.

The third ecosystem service is soil protection. Most NBSs aiming to improve this ecosystem service are soil based solutions. Mainly the reduction of the erodibility of the soil and the reduction of overland flow are the key processes that will protect the soil from degrading. The main measure to reduce the erodibility is soil cover, this can be done by a vegetation cover or mulching with straw, chipped pruned branches or rock fragments (Zavala et al., 2010; Prosdocimi et al., 2016b; Abbas et al., 2017). The reduction of overland flow can be promoted through two lines of thought. Infiltration promotion or obstructions for the overland flow. Infiltration can be promoted through a better soil structure, better soil infiltration capacity. Organic farming can promote the soil structure permanently, but also ploughing may be viewed upon a nature based solution that enhances the infiltration capacity of the soil, although this is a effect that has a limited timeframe. The obstruction of overland flow can be promoted by increasing the roughness of the surface, either by vegetation (grass strips; Dillaha et al., 1989) or soil bunds (Amare et al., 2014).

The last key ecosystem service is water quality regulation. Water quality has two components, the suspended material and polluting solutes. When looking at suspended components and substances adsorbed to organic matter and clastic material in suspension, similar measures as to the flood prevention can be used. These measures are all directed to slow down the overland flow and therefore reduce the capacity of the



Fig. 7. Schematic overview of different types of nature based solutions.

water to transport sediment. However, also healthy soil will be able to filter pollutants from water (Keesstra et al., 2012).

Other ecosystem services like carbon sequestration, climate change adaptation, biomass production, biodiversity, nutrient regulation, fire risk reduction and agricultural productivity all benefit from the measures described above. We focused this paper on the processes behind these benefits, however, these ecosystem services are the ones that are more visible from a stakeholder point of view (Novara et al., 2015; Galati et al., 2016; Novara et al., 2016).

5.4. Way ahead for managers and policy makers: do NBSs form the solution for sustainability?

The array of NBSs presented in this paper clearly shows the benefits they have for ecosystem services and how they help to achieve the SDGs. However, how can we show that they are superior to traditional engineered structures? Engineered structures have been shown to be ineffective and costly in rapidly changing environment such as coastal and large riverine systems (de Vriend et al., 2014). In these kind of environments managers have searched (and found) alternative measures using with, instead of against the forces of nature. Also in areas where financial constraints do not allow costly engineered structures, people have referred to NBSs, sometimes with millennia old techniques. In addition, the engineered structures may feel safer when they are aimed for e.g. flood protection; however, they only serve this particular benefit and never have the multiple benefits that NBSs tend to have.

Although some successful examples were shown in this paper, there are of course many other situations where NBSs have been implemented. Currently it seems that there are certain NBSs that are generically generating positive effects for ecosystem services. For instance, organic agriculture, rewilding and landscape mosaic planning seems to be both worthwhile to do in boreal as well as Mediterranean climates. One issue that is uncertain, is how these measures would work if implemented over larger areas. Upstream measures may have downstream effects that may be undesirable. This is recognized by the EU, as nature based solutions are focal points in their calls for projects.

6. Conclusions

Nature based solutions (NBSs) form a cost-effective long term solution for mitigating and restoring land affected by degradation processes. NBSs can be divided into two main groups: soil solutions and landscape solutions. Soil solutions aim to enhance the soil health and soil functions through which local eco-system services will be maintained or restored. Landscape solutions mainly focus on the concept of connectivity. Making the landscape less connected, facilitating less rainfall to be transformed into runoff and therefore reduce flood risk, droughts and erosion problems. The enhanced eco-system services directly feed into the realization of the Sustainable Development Goals by the United Nations.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank COST Action ES1306, Connecting European Connectivity Research for their contribution to be able to discuss with all co-authors during meetings and short-term scientific missions. This paper is part of the results of RECARE-FP7 (ENV.2013.6.2-4, http://recare-

project.eu). We thank Deep Purple for their contribution to keep the spirit high during the writing of this paper that aims to avoid the Smoke on the Water

References

- Abbas, F., Hammad, H.M., Fahad, S., Cerdà, A., Rizwan, M., Farhad, W., ... Bakhat, H.F., 2017. Agroforestry: a sustainable environmental practice for carbon sequestration under the climate change scenarios—a review. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 1–15. Abbott, L.K., Manning, D.A., 2015. Soil health and related ecosystem services in organic ag-
- riculture. Sustainable Agriculture Research 4 (3), 116.
- Acácio, V., Holmgren, M., Rego, F., Moreira, F., Mohren, G.M., 2009. Are drought and wildfires turning Mediterranean cork oak forests into persistent shrublands? Agrofor. Syst. 76 (2), 389-400.
- Ahnert, F., 1994. Equilibrium, scale and inheritance in geomorphology. Geomorphology 11 (2), 125-140.
- Amare, T., Zegeye, A.D., Yitaferu, B., Steenhuis, T.S., Hurni, H., Zeleke, G., 2014. Combined effect of soil bund with biological soil and water conservation measures in the northwestern Ethiopian highlands. Ecohydrol. Hydrobiol. 14 (3), 192-199.
- Aradóttir, Á.L., Petursdottir, T., Halldorsson, G., Svavarsdottir, K., Arnalds, O., 2013. Drivers of ecological restoration: lessons from a century of restoration in Iceland. Ecol. Soc. 18 (4):33. http://dx.doi.org/10.5751/ES-05946-180433.
- Arnalds, A., 2005. Approaches to landcare a century of soil conservation in Iceland. Land Degrad. Dev. 16, 113-125.
- Asmamaw, D.K., 2017. A critical review of the water balance and agronomic effects of conservation tillage under rain-fed agriculture in Ethiopia. Land Degrad. Dev. 28 (3), 843 - 855
- Atnae, A.D., Ahmed, H.M., Adane, D.M., 2015. Determinants of adopting techniques of soil and water conservation in Goromti Watershed, Western Ethiopia. Journal of Soil Science and Environmental Management 6, 168–177.
- Azul, A.M., Sousa, J.P., Agerer, R., Martín, M.P., Freitas, M., 2010. Land use practices and ectomycorrhizal fungal communities from oak woodlands dominated by Quercus suber L. considering drought scenarios. Mycorrhiza 20, 73-88.
- Bengtsson, L., Milloti, S., 2010. Extreme storms in Malmö, Sweden. Hydrological Processes Volume 24 (Issue 24), 3462-3475.
- Bengtsson, L., Stahre, P., Villarreal, E., 2004. Open stormwater system in Augustenborg. Journal of Water Management and Research 60, 163-171.
- Berendse, F., van Ruijven, J., Jongejans, E., Keesstra, S.D., 2015. Loss of plant species diversity reduces soil erosion resistance of embankments that are crucial for the safety of human societies in low-lying areas. Ecosystems 18, 881-888.
- Berndtsson, J., 2010. Green roof performance towards management of runoff water quantity and quality: a review. Ecol. Eng. 36, 351-360.
- Blouin, M., Hodson, M.E., Delgado, E.A., Baker, G., Brussaard, L., Butt, K.R., Cluzeau, D., 2013. A review of earthworm impact on soil function and ecosystem services. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 64 (2), 161-182.
- Bracken, L.J., Turnbull, L., Wainwright, J., Bogaart, P., 2015. Sediment connectivity: a framework for understanding sediment transfer at multiple scales. Earth Surf. Process. Landf. 40 (2), 177-188.
- Campos, I., Vizinho, A., Truninger, M., Penha-Lopes, G., 2016. Converging for deterring land abandonment: a systematization of experiences of a rural grassroots innovation. Community Development Journal 51 (4), 552–570.
- Cerdà, A., González-Pelayo, O., Giménez-Morera, A., Jordán, A., Pereira, P., Novara, A., Brevik, E.C., Prosdocimi, M., Mahmoodabadi, M., Keesstra, S., Orenes, F.G., Ritsema, C.J., 2016. Use of barley straw residues to avoid high erosion and runoff rates on persimmon plantations in Eastern Spain under low frequency-high magnitude simulated rainfall events. Soil Res. 54 (2), 154-165.
- Cerdà, A., Keesstra, S.D., Rodrigo-Comino, J., Novara, A., Pereira, P., Brevik, E., ... Jordán, A., 2017. Runoff initiation, soil detachment and connectivity are enhanced as a conseguence of vineyards plantations. J. Environ. Manag. 202, 268-275.
- Chorley, R.J., Kennedy, B.A., 1971. Physical Geography: A System Approach. Prentice-Hall (370 pp.)
- Demuzere, M., Orru, K., Heidrich, O., Olazabal, E., Geneletti, D., Orru, H., Bhave, A., Mittal, N., Feliu, E., Faehnle, M., 2014, Mitigating and adapting to climate change: multifunctional and multi-scale assessment of green urban infrastructure. J. Environ. Manag. 146 107-115
- Dillaha, T.A., Reneau, R.B., Mostaghimi, S., Lee, D., 1989. Vegetative filter strips for agricultural nonpoint source pollution control. Transactions of the ASAE 32 (2), 513-0519.
- Esteves, A.M., 2017. Radical environmentalism and "Commoning": synergies between ecosystem regeneration and social governance at Tamera Ecovillage, Portugal, Antipode 49:357-376. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/anti.12278.
- Favretto, N., Stringer, L.C., Dougill, A.J., Dallimer, M., Perkins, J.S., Reed, M.S., Mulale, K., 2016. Multi-Criteria Decision Analysis to identify dryland ecosystem service trade-offs under different rangeland land uses. Ecosystem Services 17, 142-151.
- Finger, D., Þórsson, J., Pétursdóttir, Þ., Halldórsson, G., 2016. Enhancing the resilience of water resources through land restoration in Rangárvellir, Iceland - an overview of the HydroResilience project, Extended abstract 10th European Conference on Ecological Restoration, Freising, Germany. SER Europe Knowledge Base (www.ser.org/europe), 5pp. ISSN2295-5704.
- Flood, R.L., 2010. The relationship of 'systems thinking' to action research. Syst. Pract. Action Res. 23 (4), 269-284.
- Forrester, J.W., 1994. System dynamics, systems thinking, and soft OR. Syst. Dyn. Rev. 10 (2-3), 245-256.
- Galati, A., Crescimanno, M., Gristina, L., Keesstra, S., Novara, A., 2016. Actual provision as an alternative criterion to improve the efficiency of payments for ecosystem services

for C sequestration in semiarid vinevards. Agric, Svst. 144:58-64. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.agsy.2016.02.004.

- García-Díaz, A., Allas, R.B., Gristina, L., Cerdà, A., Pereira, P., Novara, A., 2016, Carbon input threshold for soil carbon budget optimization in eroding vinevards. Geoderma 271. 144-149.
- García-Ruiz, J.M., Arnáez, J., Begueria, S., Seeger, M., Marti-Bono, C., Regüés, D., White, S., 2005. Runoff generation in an intensively disturbed, abandoned farmland catchment, Central Spanish Pyrenees. Catena 59 (1), 79-92.
- Gebremedhin B Swinton SM 2003 Investment in soil conservation in northern Ethiopia: the role of land tenure security and public programs. Agric, Econ. 29 (1), 69-84
- Gebremichael, D., Nyssen, J., Poesen, J., Deckers, J., Haile, M., Govers, G., Moeyersons, J., 2005. Effectiveness of stone bunds in controlling soil erosion on cropland in the Tigray Highlands, northern Ethiopia, Soil Use and Management, 21 (3):287–297. http://dx.doi.org/10.1079/SUM2005321.
- Godinho, S., Gil, A., Guiomar, N., Costa, M.J., Neves, N., 2016. Assessing the role of Mediterranean evergreen oaks canopy cover in land surface albedo and temperature using a remote sensing-based approach. Appl. Geogr. 74, 84-94.
- Gouveia, A., Freitas, H., 2008. Intraspecific competition and water use efficiency in Quercus suber: evidence of an optimum tree density? Trees 22, 521-530.
- Griggs, D., Stafford-Smith, M., Gaffney, O., Rockström, J., Öhman, M.C., Shyamsundar, P., Noble, I., 2013. Policy: sustainable development goals for people and planet. Nature 495 (7441), 305-307.
- Hack, J.T., 1975. Dynamic equilibrium and landscape evolution. Theories of Landform Development. 1, pp. 87-102.
- van Hall, R.L., Cammeraat, L.H., Keesstra, S.D., Zorn, M., 2017. Impact of secondary vegetation succession on soil quality in a humid Mediterranean landscape. Catena 149, 836-843
- He, J., Moffette, F., Fournier, R., Revéret, J.P., Théau, J., Dupras, J., Varin, M., 2015. Meta-analysis for the transfer of economic benefits of ecosystem services provided by wetlands within two watersheds in Quebec, Canada. Wetl. Ecol. Manag. 23 (4), 707-725.
- Heimsath, A.M., Dietrich, W.E., Nishiizumi, K., Finkel, R.C., 1997. The soil production function and landscape equilibrium. Nature 388 (6640), 358-361.
- van den Hoek, R.E., Brugnach, M., Hoekstra, A.Y., 2012. Shifting to ecological engineering in flood management: introducing new uncertainties in the development of a Building with Nature pilot project. Environ. Sci. Pol. 22, 85-99.
- Huang, Y.J.S., Higgs, S., Vanlandingham, D.L., 2017. Biological control strategies for mosquito vectors of arboviruses. Insects 8 (1), 21.
- Hueso-González, P., Martínez-Murillo, J.F., Ruiz-Sinoga, J.D., 2014. The impact of organic amendments on forest soil properties under Mediterranean climatic conditions. Land Degrad. Dev. 25, 604-612.
- Kabisch, N., Frantzeskaki, N., Pauleit, S., Naumann, S., Davis, M., Artmann, M., Zaunberger, K., 2016. Nature-based solutions to climate change mitigation and adaptation in urban areas: perspectives on indicators, knowledge gaps, barriers, and opportunities for action. Ecol. Soc. 21 (2).
- Kalantari, Z., Folkeson, L., 2013. Road drainage in Sweden: current practice and suggestions for adaptation to climate change. Journal of Infrastructure Systems (ASCE) 19 (2), 147-156.
- Keesstra, S.D., van Huissteden, J., Vandenberghe, J., Van Dam, O., de Gier, J., Pleizier, I.D., 2005. Evolution of the morphology of the river Dragonja (SW Slovenia) due to land-use changes. Geomorphology 69, 191-207.
- Keesstra, S.D., van Dam, O., Verstraeten, G., van Huissteden, J., 2009. Changing sediment generation due to natural reforestation in the Dragonja catchment, SW Slovenia. Catena 78, 60-71.
- Keesstra, S.D., Kondrlova, E., Czajka, A., Seeger, M., 2012. Assessment of the impact of riparian and channel vegetation on water and sediment retardation using a catchment and channel scale model. Neth. J. Geosci. 91, 245-256.
- Keesstra, S.D., Bouma, J., Wallinga, J., Tittonell, P., Smith, P., Cerdà, A., Montanarella, L., Quinton, J.N., Pachepsky, Y., van der Putten, W.H., Bardgett, R.D., Moolenaar, S., Mol, G., Jansen, B., Fresco, L.O., 2016a. The significance of soils and soil science towards realization of the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals. Soil 2:111-128. http://dx.doi.org/10.5194/soil-2-111-2016.
- Keesstra, S., Pereira, P., Novara, A., Brevik, E.C., Azorin-Molina, C., Parras-Alcántara, L., Cerdà, A., 2016b. Effects of soil management techniques on soil water erosion in apricot orchards. Sci. Total Environ. 551, 357-366 DOI:.
- Kirchhoff, M., Rodrigo Comino, J., Seeger, M., Ries, J.B., 2017. Soil erosion in sloping vineyards under conventional and organic land use managements (Saar-Mosel valley, Germany). Cuadernos de Investigación Geográfica 43, 119-140.
- Knops, J.M., Tilman, D., 2000. Dynamics of soil nitrogen and carbon accumulation for 61 years after agricultural abandonment. Ecology 81 (1), 88-98.
- Korthals, G.W., Smilauer, P., Van Dijk, C., Van der Putten, W.H., 2001. Linking above-and below-ground biodiversity: abundance and trophic complexity in soil as a response to experimental plant communities on abandoned arable land. Funct. Ecol. 15 (4), 506-514
- Laughlin, D.C., 2014. Applying trait-based models to achieve functional targets for theorydriven ecological restoration. Ecol. Lett. 17 (7), 771-784
- Lemann, T., Zeleke, G., Amsler, C., Giovanoli, L., Suter, H., Roth, V., 2016. Modelling the effect of soil and water conservation on discharge and sediment yield in the upper Blue Nile basin, Ethiopia. Appl. Geogr. 73, 89–101.
- Li, Y.Y., Shao, M.A., 2006. Change of soil physical properties under long-term natural vegetation restoration in the Loess Plateau of China. J. Arid Environ. 64 (1), 77-96
- López-Vicente, M., Quijano, L., Palazón, L., Gaspar, L., Navas, A., 2015. Assessment of soil redistribution at catchment scale by coupling a soil erosion model and a sediment

connectivity index (Central Spanish Pre-pyrenees). Cuadernos De Investigacion Geografica 41 (1), 127–147.

Ludzia, A., Larsson, R., Aguayo, S., 2014. Evaluation of a sustainable urban drainage system in Augustenborg, Malmö. Journal of Water Management and Research 70 (2), 107–112.

- Machovina, B., Feeley, K.J., 2017. Restoring low-input high-diversity grasslands as a potential global resource for biofuels. Sci. Total Environ. 609, 205–214.
- Mandal, D., Srivastava, P., Giri, N., Kaushal, R., Cerda, A., Alam, N.M., 2017. Reversing land degradation through grasses: a systematic meta-analysis in the Indian tropics. Solid Earth 8 (1), 217.
- Manso, M., Castro-Gomes, J., 2015. Green wall systems: a review of their characteristics. Renew. Sust. Energ. Rev. 41, 863–871.
- Marsalek, J., Sztruhar, D., Giulianelli, M., 2004. The interaction between water and society: a new approach to sustainable stormwater management. Enhancing Urban Environment by Environmental Upgrading and Restoration, pp. 381–394.
- Martins da Silva, P., Berg, M., Alves da Silva, A., Dias, S., Leitão, P.J., Chamberlain, D., Niemela, J., Serrano, A.R.M., Sousa, J.P., 2015. Soil fauna through the landscape window: factors shaping surface-and soil-dwelling communities across spatial scales in cork-oak mosaics. Landsc. Ecol. 30 (8), 1511–1526.
- Masselink, R.J.H., Heckmann, T., Temme, A.J.A.M., Anders, N.S., Gooren, H.P.A., Keesstra, S.D., 2017a. A network theory approach for a better understanding of overland flow connectivity. Hydrol. Process. 31, 207–220.
- Masselink, R., Temme, A.J.A.M., Giménez, R., Casalí, J., Keesstra, S.D., 2017b. Assessing hillslope-channel connectivity in an agricultural catchment using rare-earth oxide tracers and random forests models. Cuadernos de Investigación Geográfica 43, 19–39.
- Mekonnen, M., Keesstra, S.D., Stroosnijder, L., Baartman, J.E.M., Maroulis, J., 2015. Soil conservation through sediment trapping: a review. Land Degrad. Dev. 26 (6), 544–556.
- Mekonnen, M., Keesstra, S.D., Ritsema, C.J., Stroosnijder, L., Baartman, J.E.M., 2016. Sediment trapping with indigenous grass species showing differences in plant traits in northwest Ethiopia. Catena 147, 755–763.
- Meli, P., Benayas, J.M.R., Balvanera, P., Ramos, M.M., 2014. Restoration enhances wetland biodiversity and ecosystem service supply, but results are context-dependent: a meta-analysis. PLoS One 9 (4), e93507.
- Miao, Z.W., Bai, Z.K., Gao, L., 2000. Ecological rebuilding and land reclamation in surface mines in Shanxi Province, China. J. Environ. Sci. 12 (4), 486–497.
- Muñoz-Rojas, M., Jordán, A., Zavala, L.M., De la Rosa, D., Abd-Elmabod, S.K., Anaya-Romero, M., 2015. Impact of land use and land cover changes on organic carbon stocks in Mediterranean soils (1956–2007). Land Degrad. Dev. 26, 168–179.
- Muñoz-Rojas, M., Erickson, T.E., Dixon, K.W., Merritt, D.J., 2016. Soil quality indicators to assess functionality of restored soils in degraded semiarid ecosystems. Restor. Ecol. 24:S43–S52. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/rec.12368.
- Nel, J.L., Le Maitre, D.C., Nel, D.C., Reyers, B., Archibald, S., Van Wilgen, B.W., Engelbrecht, F.A., 2014. Natural hazards in a changing world: a case for ecosystem-based management. PLoS One 9 (5), e95942.
- Nesshöver, C., Assmuth, T., Irvine, K.N., Rusch, G.M., Waylen, K.A., Delbaere, B., Krauze, K., 2017. The science, policy and practice of nature-based solutions: an interdisciplinary perspective. Sci. Total Environ. 579, 1215–1227.
- Ng, K., Campos, I., Penha-Lopes, G. (Eds.), 2016. BASE Adaptation Inspiration Book: 23 European Cases of Climate Change Adaptation to Inspire European Decision-Makers, Practitioners and Citizens. Faculty of Sciences, University of Lisbon, Lisbon.
- Novara, A., Gristina, L., Guaitoli, F., Santoro, A., Cerdà, A., 2013. Managing soil nitrate with cover crops and buffer strips in Sicilian vineyards. Solid Earth 4 (2), 255–262.
- Novara, A., Cerdà, A., Carmelo, D., Giuseppe, L.P., Antonino, S., Luciano, G., 2015. Effectiveness of carbon isotopic signature for estimating soil erosion and deposition rates in Sicilian vineyards. Soil Tillage Res. 152, 1–7.
- Novara, A., Keesstra, S., Cerdà, A., Pereira, P., Gristina, L., 2016. Understanding the role of soil erosion on co2-c loss using 13c isotopic signatures in abandoned Mediterranean agricultural land. Sci. Total Environ. 550, 330–336.
- Nunes, J.P., Naranjo Quintanilla, P., Santos, J., Serpa, D., Carvalho-Santos, C., Rocha, J., Keizer, J., Keesstra, S.D., 2017a. Afforestation, subsequent forest fire and provision of hydrological services: a model-based analysis for a Mediterranean mountainous catchment. Land Degrad. Dev. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ldr.2776.
- Nunes, J.P., Jacinto, R., Keizer, J.J., 2017b. Combined impacts of climate and socio-economic scenarios on irrigation water availability for a dry Mediterranean reservoir. Sci. Total Environ. 584-585 (C):219–233. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.01.131.
- Osterkamp, W.R., Hupp, C.R., Stoffel, M., 2012. The interactions between vegetation and erosion: new directions for research at the interface of ecology and geomorphology. Earth Surf. Process. Landf. 37 (1), 23–36.
- Panteli, M., Mancarella, P., 2015. Influence of extreme weather and climate change on the resilience of power systems: impacts and possible mitigation strategies. Electr. Power Syst. Res. 127, 259–270.
- Parras-Alcántara, L., Lozano-García, B., Keesstra, S., Cerdà, A., Brevik, E.C, 2016. Long-term effects of soil management on ecosystem services and soil loss estimation in olive grove top soils. Sci. Total Environ. 571, 498–506.
- Parsons, A.J., Bracken, L., Peoppl, R., Wainwright, J., Keesstra, S.D., 2015. Editorial: introduction to special issue on connectivity in water and sediment dynamics. Earth Surf. Process. Landf. 40 (9):1275–1277. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/esp.3714.
- Pereira, P., Brevik, E., Muñoz-Rojas, M., Miller, B., 2017. Soil mapping and processes models applied to modern challenges. Soil Mapping and Process Modelling for Sustainable Land Use Management. ELSEVIER, Amsterdam (ISBN: 9780128052006).
- Petanidou, T., Kizos, T., Soulakellis, N., 2008. Socioeconomic dimensions of changes in the agricultural landscape of the Mediterranean basin: a case study of the abandonment of cultivation terraces on Nisyros Island, Greece. Environ. Manag. 41 (2), 250–266.
- Pinto-Correia, T., Almeida, M., Gonzalez, C., 2016. A local landscape in transition between production and consumption goals: can new management arrangements preserve

the local landscape character. Geografisk Tidsskrift - Danish, J. Geogr. 116 (1): 33-43. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00167223.2015.1108210.

- Pijnappels, M., Dietl, P., 2012. CIRCLE-2 adaptation inspiration book. 22 Implemented Cases of Local Climate Change Adaptation to Inspire European Citizens. University of Lisbon, Lisbon.
- Pinto-Correia, T., 1993. Threatened landscape in Alentejo, Portugal: the "montado" and other "agro-silvo pastoral" systems. Landsc. Urban Plan. 24, 43–48.
- Pinto-Correia, T., Mascarenhas, J., 1999. Contribution to the extensification/intensification debate: new trends in the portuguese Montado. Landsc. Urban Plan. 46, 125–131.
- Prosdocimi, M., Jordán, A., Tarolli, P., Keesstra, S., Novara, A., Cerdà, A., 2016a. The immediate effectiveness of barley straw mulch in reducing soil erodibility and surface runoff generation in Mediterranean vineyards. Sci. Total Environ. 547:323–330. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.12.076.
- Prosdocimi, M., Tarolli, P., Cerdà, A., 2016b. Mulching practices for reducing soil water erosion: a review. Earth Sci. Rev. 161:191–203. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.earscirev.2016.08.006.
- Pulido, M., Schnabel, S., Lavado Contador, J.F., Lozano-Parra, J., Gómez-Gutiérrez, A., Brevik, E.C., Cerdà, A., 2017. Reduction of the frequency of herbaceous roots as an effect of soil compaction induced by heavy grazing in rangelands of SW Spain. Catena 158, 381–389.
- Ramos, M.C., Cots-Folch, R., Martínez-Casasnovas, J.A., 2007. Sustainability of modern land terracing for vineyard plantation in a Mediterranean mountain environment–the case of the Priorat region (NE Spain). Geomorphology 86 (1), 1–11.
- Rhodes, C.J., 2016. The 2015 Paris climate change conference: COP21. Sci. Prog. 99 (1), 97–104.
- Rickson, R.J., 2014. Can control of soil erosion mitigate water pollution by sediments? Sci. Total Environ. 468, 1187–1197.
- Rietkerk, M., Boerlijst, M.C., van Langevelde, F., HilleRisLambers, R., de Koppel, J.V., Kumar, L., de Roos, A.M., 2002. Self-organization of vegetation in arid ecosystems. American Naturalist]->Am. Nat. 160 (4), 524–530.
- Rijke, J., van Herk, S., Zevenbergen, C., Ashley, R., 2012. Room for the river: delivering integrated river basin management in the Netherlands. International Journal of River Basin Management 10 (4), 369–382.
- Rodrigo-Comino, J., Seeger, M., Senciales, J.M., Ruiz-Sinoga, J.D., Ries, J.B., 2016a. Spatial and temporal variation of soil hydrological processes on steep slope vineyards (Ruwel-Mosel Valley, Gemany). Cuadernos De Investigacion Geografica 42 (1), 281–306.
- Rodrigo-Comino, J.R., Quiquerez, A., Follain, S., Raclot, D., Le Bissonnais, Y., Casalí, J., Pereira, P., 2016b. Soil erosion in sloping vineyards assessed by using botanical indicators and sediment collectors in the Ruwer-Mosel valley. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 233, 158–170.
- Rodrigo Comino, J., Iserloh, T., Morvan, X., Malam Issa, O., Naisse, C., Keesstra, S.D., Cerdà, A., Prosdocimi, M., Arnáez, J., Lasanta, T., Ramos, M.C., Marqués, M.J., Ruiz Colmenero, M., Bienes, R., Ruiz Sinoga, J.D., Seeger, M., Ries, J.B., 2016c. Soil erosion processes in European vineyards: a qualitative comparison of rainfall simulation measurements in Germany, Spain and France. Hydrology 3 (1), 6.
- Romero-Díaz, A., Ruiz-Sinoga, J.D., Robledano-Aymerich, F., Brevik, E.C., Cerdà, A., 2017. Ecosystem responses to land abandonment in Western Mediterranean Mountains. Catena 149:824–835. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.catena.2016.08.013.
- Schaubroeck, T., 2017. Nature-based solutions: sustainable? Nature 543 (7645) (315-315).
- Sharma, N.K., Singh, R.J., Mandal, D., Kumar, A., Alam, N.M., Keesstra, S., 2017. Increasing farmer's income and reducing soil erosion using intercropping in rainfed maize-wheat rotation of Himalaya, India. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 247, 43–53.
- Shen, P., Zhang, L.M., Chen, H.X., Gao, L., 2017. Role of vegetation restoration in mitigating hillslope erosion and debris flows. Eng. Geol. 216, 122–133.
- Shukri, A., 2010. Hydraulic Modeling of Open Stormwater System in Augustenborg. Lund University, Sweden.
- Shvaleva, A., Siljanen, H.M.P., Correia, A., Silva, F.C.E., Lamprecht, R., Lobo-do-Vale, R., Bicho, M.C.G.P., Fangueiro, D., Anderson, M., Pereira, J.S., Chaves, M., Cruz, C., Martikainen, P.J., 2015. Environmental and microbial factors influencing methane and nitrous oxide fluxes in Mediterranean cork oak woodlands: trees make a difference. Front. Microbiol. 6 (1104), 1–11.
- Singh, Y.P., Mishra, V.K., Sharma, D.K., Singh, G., Arora, S., Dixit, H., Cerdà, A., 2016. Harnessing productivity potential and rehabilitation of degraded sodic lands through Jatropha based intercropping systems. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 233, 121–129.
- Sörensen, J., Emilsson, T., 2017. Flood risk reduction by Sustainable Urban Drainage System – evaluation using insurance data. J. Hydrol. (in press).
- Stahre, P., 2008. Blue-green Fingerprints in the City of Malmö, Sweden: Malmö's Way Towards a Sustainable Urban Drainage VA Syd, Malmö, Sweden.
- Steger, C., Hirsch, S., Evers, C., Branoff, B., Petrova, M., Nielsen-Pincus, M., Wardropper, C., van Riper, C.J., 2018. Ecosystem services as boundary objects for transdisciplinary collaboration. Ecol. Econ. 143, 153–160.
- Stive, M., de Schipper, M., Luijendijk, A., Aarninkhof, S., van Gelder-Maas, C., van Thiel de Vries, J., de Vries, S., Henriquez, M., Marx, S., Ranasinghe, R., 2013. A new alternative to saving our beaches from sea-level rise: the sand engine. J. Coast. Res. 29, 1001–1008.
- Surian, N., Barban, M., Ziliani, L., Monegato, G., Bertoldi, W., Comiti, F., 2015. Vegetation turnover in a braided river: frequency and effectiveness of floods of different magnitude. Earth Surf. Process. Landf. 40 (4), 542–558.
- Taguas, E.V., Guzmán, E., Guzmán, G., Vanwalleghem, T., Gómez, J.A., 2015. Characteristics and importance of rill and gully erosion: a case study in a small catchment of a marginal olive grove. Cuadernos De Investigacion Geografica 41 (1):107–126. http:// dx.doi.org/10.18172/cig.2644.

- Tanveer, M., Anjum, S.A., Hussain, S., Cerdà, A., Ashraf, U., 2017. Relay cropping as a sustainable approach: problems and opportunities for sustainable crop production. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 1–16.
- Tarrasón, D., Ravera, F., Reed, M.S., Dougill, A.J., Gonzalez, L., 2016. Land degradation assessment through an ecosystem services lens: integrating knowledge and methods in pastoral semi-arid systems. J. Arid Environ. 124, 205–213.
- Teixeira, R.F.M., Domingos, T., Costa, A.P.S.V., Oliveira, R., Farropas, L., Calouro, F., Barradas, A.M., Carneiro, J.P.B.G., 2011. Soil organic matter dynamics in Portuguese natural and sown rainfed grasslands. Ecol. Model. 222:993–1001. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.ecolmodel.2010.11.013.
- Temmerman, S., Meire, P., Bouma, T.J., Herman, P.M., Ysebaert, T., De Vriend, H.J., 2013. Ecosystem-based coastal defence in the face of global change. Nature 504 (7478), 79–83.
- Turner, K.G., Anderson, S., Gonzales-Chang, M., Costanza, R., Courville, S., Dalgaard, T., Ratna, N., 2016. A review of methods, data, and models to assess changes in the value of ecosystem services from land degradation and restoration. Ecol. Model. 319, 190–207.
- Vancampenhout, K., Nyssen, J., Gebremichael, D., Deckers, J., Poesen, J., Haile, M., Moeyersons, J., 2006. Stone bunds for soil conservation in the northern Ethiopian highlands: impacts on soil fertility and crop yield. Soil Tillage Res. 90 (1), 1–15.
- Villarreal, E.L., Semadeni-Davies, A., Bengtsson, L., 2004. Inner city stormwater control using a combination of best management practices. Ecol. Eng. 22 (4–5), 279–298.
- Villegas-Palacio, C., Berrouet, L., López, C., Ruiz, A., Upegui, A., 2016. Lessons from the integrated valuation of ecosystem services in a developing country: three case studies

on ecological, socio-cultural and economic valuation. Ecosystem Services 22, 297-308.

- de Vriend, H., van Koningsveld, M., Aarninkhof, S., 2014. 'Building with nature': the new Dutch approach to coastal and river works. Proc. Inst. Civ. Eng. 167 (1), 18. Vu, Q.M., Le, Q.B., Frossard, E., Vlek, P.L., 2014. Socio-economic and biophysical determi-
- Vu, Q.M., Le, Q.B., Frossard, E., Vlek, P.L., 2014. Socio-economic and biophysical determinants of land degradation in Vietnam: an integrated causal analysis at the national level. Land Use Policy 36, 605–617.
- Watson, K.B., Ricketts, T., Galford, G., Polasky, S., O'Niel-Dunne, J., 2016. Quantifying flood mitigation services: the economic value of Otter Creek wetlands and floodplains to Middlebury, VT. Ecol. Econ. 130, 16–24.
- Weil, R.R., Brady, N.C., 2016. The Nature and Properties of Soils. Pearson.
- Wiering, M.A., Arts, B.J.M., 2006. Discursive shifts in Dutch river management: 'deep' institutional change or adaptation strategy? In: Leuven, R.S.E.W., Ragas, A.M.J., Smits, A.J.M., van der Velde, G. (Eds.), Living Rivers: Trends and Challenges in Science and Management. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, pp. 327–338
- Xing, Y., Jones, P., Donnison, I., 2017. Characterisation of nature-based solutions for the built environment. Sustainability 9 (1), 149.
- Yeomans, P.A., 1954. The Keyline Plan. Waite & Bull, Sidney.
- Zavala, L.M., Jordán, A., Bellinfante, N., Gil, J., 2010. Relationships between rock fragment cover and soil hydrological response in a Mediterranean environment. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr. 56 (1), 95–104.